
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Heather Donaldson, Democratic 
Services, Tel: 01432 261829 or e-mail hdonaldson@herefordshire.gov.uk 
in advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Standards Committee Hearing 

 

Date: Friday 11 September 2009 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Heather Donaldson, Democratic Services, Tel: 01432 261829 

Tel: 01432 261829 

Email: hdonaldson@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to 
decide first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will 
then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  
Councillors will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they 
do have a personal interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a 
Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who 
has declared a prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, 
but only in circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In 
such circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting 
and on the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these 
circumstances must leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Standards 
Committee 
  
Membership  
  

Chairman Robert Rogers  Independent Member 
  
  

Jake Bharier 
Isabel Fox 
Richard Gething 
John Hardwick 
David Stevens 
John Stone 

Independent Member 
Independent Member 
Parish and Town Council Representative 
Parish and Town Council Representative 
Independent Member 
Local Authority Representative 

Beris Williams Local Authority Representative 
 

  
 
 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  11 September 2009 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the agenda. 
 

   
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS   
  
In the opinion of the Proper Officer, the following item will not be, or is likely 
not to be, open to the public and press at the time it is considered. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: that under section 100(A)(4) of the Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Schedule 12(A) of 
the Act, as indicated below 

 

 

  
3. HEARING   5 - 114  
   
 To consider an investigation in accordance with the Local Government Act 

2000, conducted by Mr Kevin O’Keefe, Legal Practice Manager, and to 
conduct a Standards Committee Hearing. 
 
(This item discloses information which is subject to an obligation of 
confidentiality) 

 

   





Your Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  

 

 

YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO:- 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt information’. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least three clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of 
up to four years from the date of the meeting.  A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report.  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors 
with details of the membership of Cabinet and all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge. 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings 
of the Council, Cabinet, its Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and 
copy documents. 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings 
of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

1



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large print.  Please contact the 

officer named on the front cover of this agenda in advance of the meeting who will be 
pleased to deal with your request. 

The meeting venue is accessible for visitors in wheelchairs. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 

 

 

Public Transport Links 

 

 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via bus route 75. 

• The service runs every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus-stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning officer named on the front cover of this agenda or 
by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday and 
8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

2



COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 

 

 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 
In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at the southern entrance to the car park.  A 
check will be undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the building following 
which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to collect coats or other personal 
belongings. 

 

3



4



COMPLAINT SC0802 

 
MONITORING OFFICER ADVICE FOR THE MEETING OF THE 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE ON 11TH SEPTEMBER 2009. 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Standards Committee on the 11th September has been convened 

in order to hold a hearing in respect of the above complaint. The matter 
was referred for investigation by the Assessment Sub Committee on 
28th July 2008. The Decision Notice identified the following potential 
breaches: 

 

• lack of respect 

• bullying 

• intimidating/attempting to intimidate someone involved in an 
allegation  

• disrepute 

• failing to declare a personal interest 
 

The final report of the investigation is dated 2 February 2009. 
 
1.2 On 27 March 2009 the Standards Committee decided that the 

allegation of a failure to declare a prejudicial interest should be referred 
for hearing. It decided there should be no further action in relation to 
the other potential breaches. 

 
1.3 The complainant subsequently issued a complaint under the Council’s 

complaints procedure. This complaint was in essence about the quality 
of the investigation report and the processes of the investigation.  

 
1.4 The investigation under stage 3 of the council’s complaints procedure 

and the local determinations process are separate and the stage 3 
complaint cannot be used as an appeal against decisions of the 
Standards Committee. 

 
1.5 However the stage 3 investigation has revealed some possible 

shortcomings in the investigation report which may have an impact on 
the hearing and which has therefore led to the issuing of this advice. 

 
2 Issues to consider 
 
2.1 The matter before the Committee for hearing is solely in respect of 

whether Councillor Myers failed to declare a prejudicial interest. This 
appears to be in relation to the development of the Thorney Orchard 
site. This is a site which was, but is no longer, in the ownership of the 
complainant.  However the investigation report does not make any 
distinction between this site and the site which continues to be in the 
complainant’s ownership (Orchard House) and simply refers to ‘the 
site’. 

AGENDA ITEM 3

5



 
2.2 Councillor Myers is said to own land directly adjacent to ‘the site’ 

(Thorney Orchard in this instance) and is alleged to have intervened on 
a number of occasions in the course of discussions about the 
development of the site, seemingly to prevent the development from 
going forward. 

 
2.3 There is no mention in the Assessment Sub Committee’s referral for 

investigation as to whether there was a potential breach of Paragraph 
6(a) of the Code of Conduct for Parish and Town Councils. This 
paragraph says: 

 
‘You must not use or attempt to use your position as a member 
improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person 
an advantage or disadvantage’ 

 
2.4 If Councillor Myers had a prejudicial, interest in relation to this site, then 

it is possible that any intervention by him might be in breach of 
paragraph 6(a). This is not considered in the investigation report. 

 
2.5 The Standards Committee on 27th March 2009 agreed that there 

should be no further action in respect of letters written by Councillor 
Myers to Laing O’‘Rourke, Severn Trent Water and Enterprise plc 
although the investigation report did find that Councillor Myers had 
written these letters in his capacity as a parish councillor. These letters 
were in relation to activity on Orchard House, the complainant’s land. 
There was evidence in front of the Committee both from the 
complainant and from Councillor Myers that this intervention had 
directly led to the loss of a contract between the complainant and those 
companies. 

 
2.6 It does not appear to be the case that the Assessment Sub Committee 

was directed to and in any event did not consider whether there was 
also a potential breach of Paragraph 6(a) in relation to the writing of 
these letters.. As the report did not distinguish between the two 
different sites (Thorney Orchard and Orchard House) on the face of it 
there was a finding that Councillor Myers had a prejudicial interest in 
relation to both sites. If Councillor Myers had a prejudicial interest in 
relation to Orchard House and wrote the letters to Laing O’Rourke and 
others then he may have been in breach of paragraph 6(a). 

 
2.7 Furthermore it is not clear from the investigation report whether 

Councillor Myers was acting with the authority of the Parish Council 
when he wrote those letters. Councillor Myers’ evidence was that he 
was writing in a personal capacity but the investigation report found 
that he was writing in his capacity as a parish councillor. If he wrote 
without authority as a parish councillor then this too could be a breach 
of paragraph 6(a). None of this is considered in the investigation report. 

3 Courses of Action open to the Standards Committee 

 

6



3.1 The Standards Committee will need to decide what to do in the light of 
the information set out above. In essence, there are two course of 
action open to it. 

 
3.2 Regulation 18(8) of the Standards Committee (England) Regulations 

2008 allows the Standards Committee at any stage prior to the 
conclusion of the hearing to adjourn the hearing and require the 
Monitoring Officer to seek further information or undertake further 
investigation on any point specified by it. The Committee may only 
adjourn once for such purposes. 

 
3.3 If the Standards Committee is of the view that the issues identified 

above are sufficiently serious then it cannot make decisions on them 
on September 11th as this would be manifestly unfair to Councillor 
Myers who would have had no time to prepare his case. The Standards 
Committee would have no alternative but to adjourn for further 
investigation to take place and a new hearing date would need to be 
fixed. In adjourning, the Standards Committee would need to specify 
what issues required further investigation and set out a timetable for 
this and for the hearing. 

 
3.4 The alternative is for the Standards Committee to agree to proceed on 

the basis of the matter referred for hearing, that is the allegation that 
Councillor Myers may have breached the Code by his failure to declare 
a prejudicial interest. In doing so the Standards Committee would need 
to disregard the information set out above and only consider what is 
put before it in the rest of the papers. 

 
3.5 Although this complaint has already suffered from significant delay, my 

advice is that the Standards Committee should adjourn the hearing in 
order to investigate the matters set out in paragraphs 2.1 – 2.7 above. 
Otherwise the Standards Committee cannot be certain that the case 
before it is the proper case for it to consider.  

 
3.6 An adjournment will require a supplemental report to be prepared by 

the investigating officer. 
 

7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



 
 
 

ADDITIONAL 

INFORMATION 

CONSIDERED BY THE 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

ON 27 MARCH 2009 

101



102



103



104



105



106



From: McLaughlin, Alan 

Sent: 26 March 2009 08:28 

To: Donaldson, Heather 

Cc: Hardy, Geoff; O'Keefe, Kevin 

Subject: FW: Standards Board complaint Reference SC0802 
Heather, 

I attach an email received this morning this should be presented to the committee as part of its 

consideration to proceed. 

Also the committee ought also to be informed of by Mr Simeon Cole. Whilst |I appreciate the committee 

will not be determining this matter on the 27
th
 March nevertheless they ought to be aware of these matters 

to consider if a there is need for further clarification/investigation in light of the draft report they are 

considering. 

Regards 

  
Alan McLaughlin 
Assistant Chief Executive - Legal and Democratic 
Herefordshire Council 
Brockington 
35 Hafod Road 
Hereford 
HR1 1SH 
  
Tel:  (01432) 260200 
Fax: (01432) 340189 
  
This e-mail and any files that are transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the addressee.  This 
communication may contain material protected by law from being passed on.  If you are not the intended recipient and have 
received this e-mail in error, you are advised that any use, dissemination, forwarding, printing, or copying of this e-mail is strictly 
prohibited.  If an attachment is included we cannot accept any liability for any loss or damage sustained as a result of software 
viruses.  It is your responsibility to carry out such virus checking as is necessary before opening any attachment.  If you received 
this e-mail in error, please notify the IT Service helpdesk at Herefordshire Council on (01432) 260160. 

  

From: Frank Myers [mailto:Frank.Myers@mcp.co.uk]  

Sent: 26 March 2009 01:46 

To: McLaughlin, Alan 
Cc: J Jarvis 

Subject: Standards Board complaint Reference SC0802 
  

Dear Mr McLaughlin 

When I received the report, prepared by Kevin O’Keefe, to my surprise I was not told what would happen 

next nor whether I had a right to reply to it or be present when it would be considered. 

I therefore sought the advice of my Ward Councillor, John Jarvis, and he has told me today that I am 

allowed to make representations to you. 

I am extremely concerned that the report prepared by Mr O’Keefe was without any discussion with me. 

Mr O’Keefe failed to attend a meeting which had been arranged with me and delegated Sam Smith to 

attend. Whilst I acknowledge that she did her best in difficult circumstances, I was interviewed without 

being given sight of the evidence which had been filed against me and I had to make representations 

before I was given the file some months later. 

It is clear that Mr O’Keefe has misunderstood, even though I have tried to correct errors by way of my 

previous written submission. 

Fundamentally, in 6.1, he states that I chaired a meeting which dealt with a planning application. I did not 

do so. The Parish Council did not consider a planning application. We considered the failure of 

Herefordshire Council to deal with specific conditions relating to a previous planning permission.  

107



Mr O’Keefe in making his comment about the views of ‘a reasonable fair minded member of the public, 

seized of all the relevant facts’ fails to take into account that all of the councillors present, including the 

complainant, discussed conflict of interest at the start of the meeting. As a result two councillors 

withdrew and not one of the councillors, who are all well aware of where I live raised such an issue with 

me. What better description could be given to this group of people than reasonable fair minded members 

of the public seized of all the relevant facts? 

Mr O’Keefe also fails to mention that he has considered that your own Planning Officer has confirmed 

that you, as an official body, do not consider that the location of where I live gives me a particular interest 

in the sites in question. 

I also have to point out that Mr O’Keefe is clearly confused about matters relating to Orchard House and 

Thorny Orchard and I am concerned that he appears perhaps not to have visited these sites before 

reaching his conclusions, he most definitely has not visited the place where I live, despite my inviting him 

to do so. 

On a fundamental note, it seems that Mr O’Keefe has determined that simply by the proximity of 

properties there is an automatic breach of the conflict of interest rules. My submission is that if such an 

automatic conclusion were meant to be drawn then the rules would clearly say so. 

I should be grateful if you would bring these matters to the attention of the Standards Board. 

Thank you. 

Frank Myers 

  

Frank Myers MBE 

Wythall Estate 

Walford 

Ross on Wye 

HR9 5SD 

Tel: 01989 562688 

Mob: 07785 252273 

  

  

108



 

 

 

DECISION NOTICE OF THE 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

ON 27 MARCH 2009 

109



110



 
 

DECISION NOTICE:  

FOR HEARING. 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Reference SCO802 
 

History 
 
On 30th June, 2008 Herefordshire Council’s Monitoring Officer received a 
complaint.  The case was referred to Herefordshire Council’s Standards 
Committee. 
 
The Assessment Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee met on 28th 
July, 2008 and determined that the case should go for investigation locally. 
 
The Monitoring Officer assigned the investigation to the Deputy Monitoring 
Officer.  His report was completed on 2nd February, 2009, some two working 
days over the recommended timescale of six months.  The Standards 
Committee is satisfied as to the reasons for this slight delay, and that it has 
not prejudiced the conduct of this case in any way. The report concluded : 
 
 
“Finding as to whether there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct 
 
I find that Parish Councillor Myers did breach the Code of Conduct in the following 
respect: 
 

(a) I consider that Councillor Myers has breached the Code of Conduct by 
failing to declare his clear prejudicial interest in the meeting of 12th 
March 2008, by reason of his ownership of Wythall, a property within 
close proximity to the Complainant’s address. 

 
(b) There is no compelling independent evidence to suggest abuse or a 

lack of respect by Councillor Myers in relation to his dealings with the 
Complainant.  I do not find a breach of the Code of Conduct in respect 
of that allegation. 

 
(c) I do not consider that the letters written to Severn Trent plc or Laing 

O’Rourke amounted to a breach of the Code of Conduct.” 

 
 

111



On 27th March, 2009 the Standards Committee of the Council met to consider 
the report arising from the investigation of the complaint. 
 
The Committee comprised:- 
 
Robert Rogers (Independent Chairman), David Stevens (Independent 
Member), John Hardwick (Town and Parish Council representative), 
Councillor John Stone (Herefordshire Council representative) and Councillor 
Beris Williams (Herefordshire Council representative). 
. 
 
Complaint 
 
The Complainant, Simeon Cole, alleged that the subject member, Frank 
Myers M.B.E., a  Member of  Walford Parish Council:- 
 
a) failed to declare a prejudicial interest at a meeting of Walford Parish 

Council on 12th March, 2008 at which an item relating to Thorny 
Orchard was considered.  Thorny Orchard is a property adjacent to the 
subject member’s own property, Wythall.  It was alleged that the 
proximity of the two properties meant that the subject member should 
have declared a prejudicial interest in respect of that item. 

 
b) wrote to companies concerned with the Thorny Orchard site, namely 

Laing O’Rourke, Enterprise plc and Severn Trent Water in misleading 
terms, and prompted neighbours to do the same, the result of which 
was that these companies ceased to use Thorny Orchard.  This 
resulted in a loss of income to the complainant. 

 
c) orally harassed the complainant and his wife on several occasions, 

indicating his intention to close their business down at one location and 
stop development at another location owned by them. 

 
Evidence Considered 
 
1. The report of 2nd February, 2009 by the Deputy Monitoring Officer, and 

supporting documentation. 
 
2. Further comments in writing submitted by the complainant on 8th 

March, 2009 and the comments of the subject member e-mailed on 
26th March, 2009. 

 
Findings 
 
The Committee are satisfied that the subject member was a serving Councillor 
at the material times, and still is so. 
 
In respect of the allegation that the subject member failed to declare a 
prejudicial interest in regard to the item concerning Thorny Orchard on 12th 
March, 2008 the Committee noted that by virtue of paragraph 8 of the Code of 

112



Conduct applicable to Walford Parish Council, a personal interest includes the 
business of the Council where a decision in relation to that business might 
reasonably be regarded as affecting the subject member’s wellbeing or 
financial position (paragraph 8(b)).  Under paragraph 10 of the Code, a 
personal interest is a prejudicial interest where the interest in question is one 
which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would 
reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice the subject 
member’s judgement of the public interest (paragraph 10(1)).  The Committee 
also noted the effects of prejudicial interests contained in paragraph 12 of the 
Code (principally the requirement to withdraw, unless covered by a 
dispensation) . 
 
The Committee considered that assessment of prejudicial interest should not 
be based on the contiguity or proximity of properties alone, but that other 
factors affecting the quality of life or amenity (in this case the movement of 
plant and equipment) may reasonably be taken into account.   
 
The Committee noted that the complainant’s further comments of 8th and 26th 
March did not bear directly on the issues in this case.   
 
In respect of the allegation that the subject member’s letters to the public 
utilities were in some way improper or misleading, the Committee noted that 
they were signed by the subject member with his title as Vice-Chairman of the 
Council, but on his personal headed writing-paper. The Committee noted the 
subject member’s view that these letters were written in a personal capacity, 
but concluded that they were in practice written as a member and Vice-
Chairman of Walford Parish Council.  The Committee considered that these 
letters expressed firmly held views but that they did so in a restrained and 
proper fashion.  The Committee did not identify any part of the letters as 
misleading, accepting that there might well have been personal differences of 
view between the complainant and the subject member over the issues raised 
therein. 
 
The Committee considered the provisions of paragraph 6(a) of the Code 
(improper securing of advantage) and concluded that these were not engaged 
in this case. 
 
In respect of the final allegation that the subject member orally abused or 
harassed the complainant and his wife, the Committee noted: the differing 
views of subject member and complainant; that, with the exception of the 
occasion on which the subject member delivered correspondence from the 
Herefordshire Council Ward Member, there was no reference to any oral 
exchanges between the parties; and no comments or behaviour cited in 
evidence that were readily identifiable as harassment.  They had before them 
no corroborative evidence from the complainant with regard to the visits by the 
subject member to view the complainant’s properties.    
 
 
 
 

113



Decision 
 
The Committee accepted the conclusions of the Report. The Committee 
did not think that it was necessary that the Adjudication Panel for 
England should hear this case. 
 
In accordance with section 57A(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 2000 
as amended, the Committee decided that no action should be taken in 
respect of the allegations at b) and c) under “Complaint” above. 
 
In accordance with Regulation 17(1)(b) of the Standards Committee 
(England) Regulations 2008 a hearing is required to be held under 
Regulation 18 in respect of the allegation at a) above only. 
 
This Decision Notice is sent to the person or persons making the 
allegation, the Member against whom the allegation was made and the 
Standards Board for England. 
 
There is a right to request review of this decision, by virtue of section 
57B of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended, exercisable within 
thirty days of the date of this Notice. 
 
 
Signed  …………………………………………      Date ……………………….. 
 
Chair of the Herefordshire Council Standards Committee  

114


	Agenda
	
	3 HEARING
	[2]Hearing Papers - Investigating Officer's Report
	[3]File Insert - Additional Information
	[4]Additional Information from Simeon Cole
	[5]Additional Information from Frank Myers
	[6]File Insert - Decision Notice - 27Mar09
	[7]Decision Notice - complaint SCO802 Cllr  Myers RJR track changes accepted - FINALISED


